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Cct ober 16, 2000
Before JOLLY, SM TH, and BARKSDALE, Circuit Judges.

RHESA HAVKI NS BARKSDALE, Circuit Judge:

Primarily at issue is which limtations accrual rule to apply
for civil <clains under the Racketeer |Influenced and Corrupt
O gani zations Act (RICO, 18 U S.C. 88 1961-68, when injuries occur
not only during, but outside, the limtations period. Sunmmar y
j udgnent was awar ded agai nst Blue Cross and Bl ue Shield of Texas,
Inc. on the ground that its RICO and other, clains are tine-
barred. W VACATE and REMAND.

| .

I n Sept enber 1991, the Texas Attorney CGeneral sued Psychiatric
Institutes of Anerica, Inc. (PlA). PlA, now known as NVE
Psychiatric Hospitals, Inc., is owed by appell ee National Medi cal
Enterprises, Inc. The action alleged, inter alia, that PIA s
psychiatric hospitals deliberately solicited victins and subm tted
fraudulent clains against the Texas Crine Victins Conpensation
Fund.

Begi nning that October, a Texas state l|legislative conmmttee
conducted hearings to investigate psychiatric hospital abuse in
Texas. The hearings, which received extensive nedia coverage,

uncover ed evi dence that sonme Texas psychiatric hospitals engaged in



deceptive practices to recruit patients and based discharge
deci sions on insurance coverage.

Lane Melton, who worked in the special clains unit of Blue
Cross and Bl ue Shield of Texas, Inc. (BCBST), and who, in 1991, was
al so president of the Texas chapter of the National Health Care
Antifraud Association, testified before the state commttee that
Novenber. Melton also had routine communications with the FBI and
the offices of the United States Attorney and the Texas Attorney
Ceneral during their investigations in 1991 of PIA and NME
hospi tal s.

In July 1992, BCBST was asked to join an action filed by other
i nsurers agai nst Appel |l ees. BCBST declined, not considering itself
a victimof fraud.

Inthe fall of 1995, in connectionwithits |itigation against
anot her group of psychiatric hospitals, and at the direction of
out si de counsel, BCBST sent questionnaires to insureds regarding
fraudulent clains. In review ng the responses, BCBST di scovered
that one of the hospitals being sued had been previously owned by
PI A, and that sonme of the alleged fraud had occurred during PIA s
owner shi p.

In md-February 1996, BCBST intervened in an action filed in
1995 in Texas state court by forner patients agai nst Appel | ees and
ot hers. BCBST al | eged: it had provided insurance coverage to

persons who received psychiatric or other health care services from



Appel l ees from 1989-92; and Appellees engaged in a schene to
defraud BCBST through acts and practices calculated to nmaximnm ze
i nsurance-covered benefits, including deliberately m sdiagnosing
patients’ conditions, determning the length of inpatient care
based solely on the anount of I nsurance cover age, and
m srepresenting that services were provided. Claimng fraud,
intentional and negligent m srepresentation, and contractual and
equi t abl e subrogation, BCBST sought to recover the anpunt it had
paid Appellees from 1989-92, on behalf of covered patients, for
unnecessary nedi cal expenses. The action was renoved to federal
court in |late February 1996.

BCBST anended its conplaint in April 1997, adding clains for
civil RICO unjust enrichnment, and restitution. It filed a second
anended conplaint that July, presenting the sane clains.

That Septenber, Appellees noved to dismss or strike the
second anended conpl aint, asserting, inter alia, that it did not
allege fraud with the particularity required by FED. R Qv. P.
9(b). And, approximately two and one-half nonths | ater, Appellees
moved for summary judgnent, contending that BCBST s clains were
barred by the applicable statutes of limtations. BCBST responded
in early 1998, asserting, inter alia: it exercised reasonable
diligence in an effort to discover the bases for its clains; and
the limtations periods were tolled under the doctrine of

f raudul ent conceal nent.



That My, the district court granted Appellees’ notion to
dismss, holding that BCBST's clains, all of which rested on
allegations of fraud, failed to satisfy Rule 9(b)’'s particularity
standard. The docket entry for that order states that the ruling
“nmoot [ ed] ” Appel | ees’ sunmmary judgnent notion. BCBST s appeal from
that order was dismssed by our court for lack of appellate
jurisdiction. Love v. National Med. Enters., Inc., No. 98-20606
(5th Gr. 15 Sept. 1998) (unpublished).

In | ate Novenber 1998, the district court granted the forner-
patient plaintiffs’ notion to sever their clains fromBCBST s, and
remanded those plaintiffs’ clains to state court. Appellees noved
for entry of final judgnent that Decenber. |n addition to opposing
the notion, BCBST sought |eave to anend its conpl aint.

On 1 February 1999, w thout obtaining | eave of court, BCBST
filed athird anended conplaint. It alleged: Appellees engaged in
a fraudul ent schene beginning in 1988, and continuing into at | east
1993; and BCBST sought to recover the anbunts paid to Appell ees for
all egedly fraudul ent insurance clains submtted from 1988 t hrough
1995. In addition to the previous clains, it added civil
conspiracy, breach of contract, and ERISA. It also clained tolling
of the statutes of I|imtations because Appellees allegedly
fraudul ently conceal ed facts supporting BCBST s cl ai ns, and because
sonme of its clainms arise out of the treatnent of mnors. |In md-

February, Appellees noved to strike or dismss the third anmended



conplaint, on the grounds that: it was filed w thout |eave of
court; anmendnent would be futile because BCBST' s clains are tine-
barred; and it failed to satisfy Rule 9(b).

One week later, the district court denied Appellees’ notion
for entry of final judgnent and granted BCBST |leave to file the
third anended conplaint. But, that April, the court granted
summary judgnment for Appellees sua sponte, holding that all of
BCBST's clains are tinme-barred.

1.

BCBST contends that the district court erred by: granting
summary judgnent sua sponte against the new clains in its third
anended conpl ai nt —civil conspiracy, breach of contract, and ERI SA
(it does not do so for its other clains, even though they were
i kewi se di sm ssed sua sponte); regarding its civil R CO clains,
hol ding recovery is tine-barred for insurance clains submtted
wthin the four-year |imtations period; and holding that its civil
RICO clainms accrued when it should have discovered the alleged
fraudul ent schene, rather than when it discovered, or should have
di scovered, its injuries. |In addition, BCBST maintains there is a
material fact issue on whether, for all of its clains, which cover
the period 1988-95 the |imtations periods were tolled by
fraudul ent conceal nent and for insurance clainms submtted for

treat nent of m nors.



We review a summary j udgnent de novo, “viewing all facts, and

the inferences to be drawn fromthem in the light nost favorable

to the non-novants”. Forsyth v. Barr, 19 F.3d 1527, 1533 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, 513 U S 871 (1994). Such judgnent is
appropriate  “if the pl eadi ngs, deposi tions, answer s to

interrogatories, and admssions on file, together wth the
affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any
material fact and that the noving party is entitled to a judgnent

as a matter of law'. Feb. R CQv. P. 56(c).

“[T]he substantive law wll identify which facts are
material”. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U S. 242, 248
(1986). A “dispute about a material fact is ‘genuine,” ... if the

evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for
the nonnoving party”. 1d.; see Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd.
V. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587 (1986).
A

First, we reject Appellees’ contention that BCBST s notice of
appeal was not tinely filed, resulting in our |acking appellate
jurisdiction. BCBST's notion for reconsideration was denied in
early May 1999. Its notice of appeal, filed 2 July 1999, was
untinely. Feb. R App. P. 4(a)(1)(A), (4)(a)(4)(B)(ii). But, also
on 2 July, within the 30-day period specified in FED. R ApP. P
4(a)(5) (A) (i), BCBST noved for an extension of tinme to file its

notice of appeal. The notion was granted on 12 July.



Appel l ees maintain: the extension did not resuscitate the 2
July notice; and BCBST was required, post-extension, to file
anot her notice of appeal. In granting the extension, however, the
district court stated that the notice “shall be filed by July 2,
1999”. Having already filed its notice of appeal on that date,
BCBST did not need to file another.

B

BCBST chal | enges the procedure enpl oyed by the district court
for granting summary judgnment sua sponte against its civil
conspiracy, breach of contract, and ERI SA clains, added by the
thi rd anended conplaint. BCBST relies on the follow ng: Appellees
moved for sunmary j udgnent before BCBST filed that conplaint; after
it was filed, Appellees did not supplenent their notion; and the
district court did not give notice it was considering sunmary
judgnent for these newclains. (But, for its other clains, and as
noted supra, BCBST does not claimany procedural inproprieties.)

A summary judgnment notion “shall be served at |east 10 days
before the tine fixed for the hearing”. FED. R CQv. P. 56(c).
Al t hough Rule 56 contenplates such a notion being filed, it is
wel |l -settled that a district court may grant summary judgnent sua
sponte, “so long as the losing party has ten days notice to cone
forwmard wth all of its evidence” in opposition to summary

judgnent. Washington v. Resolution Trust Corp., 68 F.3d 935, 939

(5th Gr. 1995); see also St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. WIIianson,



224 F. 3d 425, 435 (5th Gr. 2000) (district court may enter summary
j udgnent sua sponte if it gives parties at | east ten days notice).

Al t hough our court “has strictly enforced [this] ten day
notice requirenent”, Leatherman v. Tarrant County Narcotics
Intelligence & Coordination Unit, 28 F.3d 1388, 1397 (5th Gr.
1994) (internal quotation narks and citation omtted), the “failure
to provide notice may be harml ess error ... when the nonnovant has
no additional evidence or if all of the nonnovant’s additiona
evidence is reviewed by the appellate court and none of the
evi dence presents a genuine issue of material fact”. Ross .
University of Tex. at San Antonio, 139 F.3d 521, 527 (5th Gr.
1998) (internal quotation marks and citation omtted; enphasis
added); see also St. Paul, 224 F.3d at 435 (sane); Washi ngton, 68
F.3d at 939 (review ng sua sponte sunmary judgnent for harnl ess
error).

And, where the party agai nst whom summary judgnent is granted
nmoves for reconsideration under FED. R CGv. P. 59(e), but does not,
in that notion, challenge the procedural propriety of the summary
judgnent ruling, our court has reviewed the asserted procedura
irregularity, raised for the first tine on appeal, only for plain
error. See Conley v. Board of Trustees of G enada County Hosp.,
707 F.2d 175, 178 (5th Cr. 1983). C. Exxon Corp. v. St. Pau
Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 129 F.3d 781, 787 (5th Gr. 1997) (“The
fact that St. Paul did not object to the district court’s [sua

9



sponte sunmary judgnent] or request a new trial or rehearing ..
indicates that St. Paul had no further evidence to present or
argunent to nmake regarding any material dispute of fact.”); Dayco
Corp. v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 523 F.2d 389, 393 (6th Cr.
1975) (al though notion to reconsider is not prerequisite to appeal,
fact that party challenging |l ack of notice of conversion of notion
to dismss to notion for summary judgnent did not seek
reconsideration by district court or indicate on appeal what
additional evidence in opposition to summary judgnent it would
present on remand, confirns court’s conclusion that notice woul d
have served no useful purpose).

Fol |l ow ng the summary judgnent, and al though not required to
do so, BCBST noved for reconsideration. That notion did not:
raise lack of notice or any other procedural irreqgularities;
descri be or present any evidence in opposition to summary judgnent;
or contend that such evidence could be obtained through further
di scovery. Thus, the district court had no opportunity to correct
any procedural errors.

BCBST' s briefing on this i ssue does not describe any specific
evi dence purporting to establish a material fact issue on whether
the clains added by the third amended conplaint are barred by
limtations. Mor eover, BCBST does not contend it was prevented
frompresenting any such evidence to the district court as a result

of the alleged |ack of notice. See Nowin v. Resolution Trust
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Corp., 33 F.3d 498, 504-05 (5th Cr. 1994) (lack of notice for sua
sponte summary judgnent was harnl ess error where nonnovant failed
to state what evidence it wanted to present or why it needed nore
time to respond); Hoopes v. Equifax, Inc., 611 F.2d 134, 136 (6th
Cr. 1979) (district court did not reversibly err in granting
summary j udgnment w thout providing ten days notice, where plaintiff
failed to denobnstrate that he could have produced additiona

evi dence had notice been given).

Under these circunstances, the district court did not plainly
err by enploying the sua sponte procedure for the clainms added by
the third amended conplaint. (Qur holding, of course, relates only
to the chal |l enged procedure, not to the nerits of the clains. See
part 11.C 3.)

C.

BCBST's petition in intervention was filed on 13 February
1996. The parties agree that BCBST' s clains are subject to four-
year statutes of limtations.

1

BCBST contends that the district court erred by granting
summary judgnent agai nst clainms that accrued withinthelimtations
period; restated, clains that coul d not have accrued until after 13
February 1992 —four years before BCBST' s petition was filed. For

those clains, the underlying psychiatric treatnent did not occur,
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and BCBST s obligation to pay Appellees’ insurance clains for such
treatnent did not arise, until after that date —13 February 1992.

BCBST does not state whether this i ssue enconpasses all of its
clains. As discussed, it presents clains for, inter alia, civi
RI CO fraud, and unjust enrichnment. For this issue, which concerns
only allegedly fraudulent “insurance clainms” submtted within the
limtations period, and as discussed infra, the only supporting
authority BCBST cites is Klehr v. A QO Smth Corp., 521 U S 179
(1997), which deals only with civil RICO clains. Accordingly, we
understand this issue is so l[imted.

a.

Accordi ng to BCBST, Appellees’ alleged schene to defraud BCBST
is a “continuing violation”, wth a new and independent claim
accruing with each submttal of an allegedly fraudul ent insurance
claimin furtherance of that schene. Appellees counter that the
continuing violation doctrine is inapplicable, maintaining: the
insurance clainms submtted within the limtations period are not
injurious acts separate and independent from the prior alleged
fraudul ent schene; in 1991, outside the limtations period, BCBST
knew, or should have known, the facts that are the basis of its
clai ns; and BCBST has not shown that any of the conduct within the
limtations period is distinguishable from the conduct, outside
that period, of which BCBST was, or should have been, aware, but

for which it failed to tinely file suit.
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i
As stated, Klehr is the sole authority relied on by BCBST.
One issue in Klehr concerned the Third Grcuit’s “last predicate

act accrual rule for civil R CO actions. The Suprene Court
assuned the rul e neant that, so | ong as the defendant comm tted one
predicate act within the limtations period, the plaintiff could
recover, not only for the injury caused by that act, but also for
the injuries caused by all of the acts conprising the pattern of
racketeering activity. 521 U S. at 186-87.

The Court rejected the “last predicate act” accrual rule
because, inter alia, it was “inconsistent with the ordinary C ayton
Act rule, ... under which a cause of action accrues and the statute
begins to run when a defendant conmits an act that injures a
plaintiff’s business”. Id. at 188 (internal quotation marks and
citations omtted). The Court noted: when it had held that the
Clayton Act’'s four-year limtations period applied to civil RICO
clains, it had expl ai ned that “Congress consci ously patterned civil
RICO after the Clayton Act”. 1d. at 188-89 (citing Agency Hol di ng
Corp. v. Malley-Duff & Assocs., Inc., 483 U S. 143, 156 (1987)).

To illustrate why the Third Crcuit’s “last predicate act”
accrual rule went “too far”, because it would allowa plaintiff to
recover for acts outside thelimtations period, the Court used the

antitrust law “continuing violation” doctrine. 1d. at 189. Under

that doctrine, each overt act that is part of a continuing
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violation and causes injury to the plaintiff “starts the statutory
period running again, regardless of the plaintiff’'s know edge of
the alleged illegality at nuch earlier tinmes”, id. (internal
quotation marks and citation omtted), but generally does not all ow
a plaintiff to recover for the injury caused by overt acts outside
the limtations period. 1d.

The Court noted that, simlarly, the “separate accrual” rule
applied by sone circuits for civil R CO actions allowed recovery
for injury caused by the comm ssion of a separable, new predicate
act within the limtations period, but, Ilike the antitrust
continuing violation doctrine, did not permt “the plaintiff [to]
use an i ndependent, new predicate act as a bootstrap to recover for
injuries caused by other earlier predicate acts that took place
outside the limtations period”. 1d. at 190.

This “separate accrual” rule for civil R CO actions had
earlier been adopted by the Second Circuit in Bankers Trust Co. v.
Rhoades, 859 F.2d 1096, 1102 (2d G r. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U S.
1007 (1989), which held: “each tine a plaintiff suffers an injury
caused by a [RICOQ violation ..., a cause of action to recover
damages based on that injury accrues to plaintiff at the tine he
di scovered or should have discovered the injury”. ld. at 1102
This “separate accrual” rule is a variant of the “injury discovery”
rule adopted by our court in Rotella v. Wod, 147 F.3d 438, 440

(5th Gir. 1998), aff’d, 528 U S. 549 (2000).
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Under the “injury discovery” rule, a civil R CO claimaccrues
when the plaintiff discovers, or should have discovered, the
injury. 1d. Wen a pattern of RICO activity causes a continuing
series of separate injuries, the “separate accrual” rule allows a
civil RICO claim to accrue for each injury when the plaintiff
di scovers, or should have di scovered, that injury. Bankers Trust,
859 F.2d at 1102.

The Second Circuit relied on two sources as support for the
“separate accrual” rule, the first of which is RICOs plain
| anguage: a civil RICO action may be filed only by a “person
injured in his business or property by reason of a violation of [18
US C 8§ 1962". 1Id. (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c)). “Until such
injury occurs, there is no right to sue for danmages under 8§

1964(c), and until there is aright to sue under § 1964(c), a civil

Rl CO action cannot be held to have accrued”. Id.

The court noted, however, that, “[e]ven after injury has
occurred, ... and a civil R CO claim has accrued, there wll
frequently be additional, independent injuries that will result

fromthe sane violation of 8§ 1962, but which, because they will not

occur until sone point in the future, are not yet actionable as
injuries to plaintiff’s business or property”. ld. at 1103.
Because a single RICO viol ation consists of a “pattern” of ill egal

acts, “each of which, standing alone, may injure a plaintiff”,

multiple injuries may be caused by a single RICO violation. 1d.
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Recogni zing the potential for such multiple injuries, “[C]ongress
tied the right to sue for damages under 8 1964(c), not to the tinme
of the defendant’s RICO violation, but to the tinme when plaintiff
suffers injury to ‘his business or property’ fromthe violation”
ld. “The logical end result is that a plaintiff may sue for any
injury he discovers or should have di scovered within four years of
the commencenent of his suit, regardless when the RICO violation
causi ng such injury occurred”. Id.

The Second Circuit’s second source of support for this
“separate accrual” rule was the Cayton Act, which, as noted, had
been recognized by the Suprene Court as the pattern for RICO s
civil action provision. |d. at 1103-04. “GCenerally, a cause of
action under the C ayton Act accrues and the statute of limtations
begi ns to run, when a defendant conmts an antitrust violation that
injures a plaintiff’s business”. |Id. at 1104. Specifically, the
Second Circuit found support for its “separate accrual” rule in the
“continuing violation” doctrine of antitrust |law, under which a
cause of action for damages accrues “each tine plaintiff suffers an
injury caused by an illegal act of defendants”. 1d. Under that
doctrine, damages for future injuries for which no separate claim
has yet accrued are recoverable, unless “the fact of their accrual
is speculative or their anount and nature unprovable”. | d.

(internal quotation marks and citation omtted).
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The court recognized that its adoption of the “separate
accrual” rule resulted in “rejecting the general federal rule of
accrual, which requires in cases invol ving continuing violation and
continuous injury that the statute of limtations begin running
upon the conm ssion of the first overt act causi ng danage, and does
not permt a subsequent injury to start the limtations period
running anew’. |d. at 1104-05. *“Such a rejection [was] mandated
by the continuing violations and injuries sought to be renedied
under RICO and the Clayton Act.” 1d. at 1105. “*Qherw se, future
damages that could not be proved wthin four years of the conduct
fromwhich they flowed would be forever incapable of recovery’”.
ld. (quoting Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc., 401
U S. 321, 340 (1971)).

Al t hough our court has neither adopted nor rejected the
“separate accrual” rule of Bankers Trust, we have, as stated
adopted the underlying “injury discovery” rule upon which the
“separate accrual” rule is based. Rotella, 147 F.3d at 440. CQur
court having adopted the “injury discovery” rule, it would seem
illogical to conclude that, under civil RICO a plaintiff nmay not
recover for injuriesincurred wthinthelimtations period, nerely
because they result fromacts that are part of a continuing pattern
of simlar acts that caused other, simlar injuries outside that

peri od.
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In this regard, the Suprene Court’s nobst recent decision on
the accrual of civil RICO actions, the earlier-cited Rotella v.
Wod, 528 U S. 549 (2000), rejected an “injury and pattern”
di scovery rul e of accrual, “under which a civil RICO clai maccrues
only when the claimnt discovers, or should discover, both an
injury and a pattern of RICO activity”. Id. at __ , 120 S. C. at
1080 (enphasis added). The Court did not decide, however, whether
an “injury discovery” or “straight injury occurrence” rule should
apply for such actions. Id. at |, 120 S. C. at 1080 & n. 2.

Nor did it “decide whether civil RICO allows for a cause of
action when a second predicate act follows the injury, or what
limtations accrual rule mght apply in such case”. 1d. at |,
120 S. C. at 1083 n.4. But, inrejecting the “injury and pattern
di scovery” rule, the Court explained that such a rule “would cl ash
wth the limtations inposed on Cayton Act suits”. |d. at __ |
120 S. C. at 1082.

In rejecting a significantly different focus
under RICO ... we are honoring an anal ogy
that Congress itself accepted and relied upon,
and one that pronotes the objectives of civil
RICO as readily as it furthers the objects of
the Cayton Act. Both statutes share a conmon
congressional objective of encouraging civi

litigation to supplenent Governnent efforts to
deter and penalize the respectively prohibited

practices.

ld. at __, 120 S. Ct. at 1082.
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As is evident from the foregoing discussion of the Second
Circuit’s opinion in Bankers Trust, the “continuing violation”
doctrine applicable in Cayton Act cases is very simlar to the
“separate accrual” rule applied by that court in the civil RICO
context. In the light of the Suprene Court’s heavy reliance on the
Cl ayton Act nodel in resolving civil RICO accrual issues, and the
simlarity between the antitrust continuing violation doctrine and
the “separate accrual” rule adopted by the Second Circuit, we
perceive no barrier to our adopting the “separate accrual” rule
for civil RICO actions. Mor eover, as discussed, such a rule is
consistent with, and based on, the “injury discovery” rule
previ ously adopted by our court. It is well-suited for cases, such
as this, in which a pattern of RICO activity is alleged to have
caused a continuing series of simlar, independent injuries.
Accordi ngly, we hold that the Bankers Trust “separate accrual” rule
applies in civil R CO actions.

ii.

Appel | ees contend that the “separate accrual” rule does not
apply to BCBST' s clains, naintaining: the “continuing conduct”
al l eged by BCBST (subm ssion of allegedly fraudulent insurance
clains within the |[imtations period) is not an injurious act
separate fromthe al |l eged prior m sconduct (subm ssion, outside the
period, of other such clains), all stemmng fromthe sane all eged

schene to defraud. W disagree.
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Each ti me BCBST becane obligated to pay a fraudul ent (assuned)
i nsurance claimsubmtted by Appellees, BCBST suffered an injury
“to its business or property”, within the neaning of 18 U S. C. 8§
1964(c). Until it becane so obligated, it had not suffered an
injury as the result of the subm ssion of that claim Cbviously,
for that submttal, it could not have suffered any injury before
Appel | ees submtted the claimfor paynent.

Had BCBST filed suit in 1991, when Appel |l ees assert that BCBST
knew, or shoul d have known, of the alleged fraudul ent schene, BCBST
coul d not have recovered damages for future fraudul ent insurance
cl ai ns. First, it had not vyet suffered injury by becom ng

obligated to pay such future clainms. And, second, the fact of
their accrual [woul d be] specul ative [and] their anmount and nature
unprovabl e’”. Bankers Trust, 859 F.2d at 1104 (quoting Zenith, 401
U S. at 339).

b.

Alternatively, Appellees maintain there is no conpetent
summary judgnent evidence to support BCBST' s clains for allegedly
fraudul ent insurance clains wwthin the limtations period.

BCBST’ s t hi rd anended conpl ai nt i ncl udes al | egati ons regardi ng
Appel  ees’ fraudulent insurance clains for patients for whom
treat nent was rendered, and for whominsurance clains arising from

that treatnent were submtted, within the limtations period —

after 13 February 1992. |In opposition to summary judgnent, BCBST
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submtted an affidavit by Rogers, a BCBST senior investigator and
custodi an of electronically recorded data, with an attached summary
of the insurance clains nade by Appell ees for each patient covered
by BCBST. Provided for each claim were the treatnent date and
facility, as well as the anbunt and date of paynent.

The affidavit stated: records were kept by Rogers in the
regul ar course of BCBST' s business; it was in the regul ar course of
busi ness for a BCBST enpl oyee, with know edge of the data recorded,
to make the records or to transmt information to be included in
them the records were nmade at or near the tinme of the events, or
reasonably soon thereafter; the attachnent “represent[ed] a summary
of vol um nous, recorded el ectronic data, depicting hospital clains
paid during the relevant period”; and the summarized records were
avai |l abl e for inspection.

Appel | ees contend that Rogers’ affidavit does not properly
authenticate or establish the adm ssibility of the information in
the sunmary. They challenge the affidavit on the grounds that it:
does not nention the electronic process or systemused to produce
the data; does not denonstrate that the conputer system used
produces an accurate result; and fails to denonstrate, inter alia,
that it does not contain nere accunul ations of hearsay. I n
district court, Appellees so objected to the affidavit and attached

sunmmary.
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Al t hough the district court did not expressly rule on the
obj ections, the order granting sumrary judgnent states that the
court considered the parties’ “subm ssions”, presumably including
Rogers’ affidavit and summary. For our de novo review of a sunmary
judgnent, we still apply the manifest-error standard of review to
the district court's evidentiary rulings. Lavespere v. N agara
Mach. & Tool W rks, 910 F.2d 167, 175-76 (5th Cr. 1990), cert.
deni ed, 510 U.S. 859 (1993).

Affidavits supporting or opposing sunmary judgnment nust “set
forth such facts as would be adm ssible in evidence”. Feb. R Qv.
P. 56(e) (enphasis added). Accordingly, “[a]lthough the sunmmary
j udgnent evidence need not be in ‘“a formthat woul d be adm ssible
at trial,” ... the party opposing sunmary judgnent nust be able to
prove the underlying facts”. GCeiserman v. MacDonal d, 893 F. 2d 787,
793 (5th Cr. 1990) (quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U S
317, 324 (1986)).

“The requirenent of authentication or identification as a
condition precedent to admssibility is satisfied by evidence
sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what
its proponent clains.” FeD. R Evib. 901(a). For exanple, evidence
may be aut henticated by testinony of a witness with know edge t hat
a mtter is what it is clainmed to be. Febp. R Evib. 901(b)(1). And,
“[t]he contents of volumnous witings ... whi ch  cannot

conveniently be examned in court nmay be presented in the form of
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a ... summry”, provided that the docunents on which it is based
are “made avail able for exam nation or copying, or both”. FeD. R
Evip. 1006.

Rogers’ affidavit satisfies Rule 56(e). As the custodi an of
the summarized records, he was a witness with the requisite
know edge to testify that the attachnent was what it was clained to
be. The affidavit stated that the summarized docunents were
avai l able for inspection. And, wunder Fep. R Evib. 801(d)(2)
(adm ssions by party-opponent), the clains submtted by Appell ees
were not hearsay. See United States v. Sanders, 749 F.2d 195, 198
(5th Gr. 1984) (Medicaid claimforns submtted by defendant or his
agents qualify as adm ssions). Finally, the records of paynent by
BCBST wer e adm ssi bl e under the busi ness records exception, FED. R
Evip. 803(6). See Sanders, 749 F.2d at 199.

2.

The district court held: as early as 1991, BCBST was, or
shoul d have been, aware of Appellees allegedly fraudul ent conduct;
BCBST was therefore on notice it my have been injured; but it
failed to exercise reasonabl e diligence to investigate and di scover
its injury. BCBST contends: although the district court correctly
stated that BCBST' s clai ns accrued when BCBST knew, or shoul d have
known, of its injury, it erroneously applied, instead, a “fraud

di scovery” accrual rule to BCBST' s RICOcl ai ns, hol di ng that “BCBST
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was aware or should have been aware of the fraud as early as 1991”
(Enphasi s added.)

Appel l ees counter that the district court did not err by
referring to discovery both of the injury and the fraud, asserting
that the “injury discovery” rule is fully consistent with accrual
occurring upon discovery of the fraud. Appellees maintain that,
because BCBST had actual know edge in 1991 of the alleged fraud, it
was, at the very least, oninquiry notice of its injury, but failed
to exercise reasonable diligence to investigate and di scover such
injury.

As stated, our court adopted the “injury discovery” rule in
Rotella, 147 F.3d at 440 (RI CO cl ai maccrues “upon t he di scovery of
the injury in question” (enphasis added)). But, our court stated
that such adoption was “fully consistent”, id., wth Daboub v.
G bbons, 42 F.3d 285, 291 (5th Cr. 1995) (“even if the discovery
rule did apply”, RICO claim was barred by limtations because
plaintiffs knew about defendant’s “actions” nore than four years
before filing suit), and La Porte Construction Co. v. Bayshore
Nat i onal Bank, 805 F.2d 1254, 1256 (5th Gr. 1986) (for RI CO civil
action, “period of |limtations does not conence until the injured
party discovers, or, in the exercise of reasonable diligence,
shoul d have di scovered, the all eged fraud”; “exerci se of reasonabl e
diligence would have led to the discovery of the fraud” (enphasis

added)). Appellees rely on this passage from Rotella to support
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their contention that a “fraud-di scovery” rule is consistent with
the “injury discovery” rule.

Simlarly, the Rotella plaintiff contended that adopti on of an
injury discovery rule, rather than the injury pattern discovery
rule he preferred, would conflict with Daboub and La Porte. I n
rejecting that contention, our court stated that, because “neither
case nentions or even inplies a requirenent of discovery of a
pattern of racketeering activity with regard to the accrual of a
civil R CO cause of action”, Rotella, 147 F.3d at 440, Daboub and
La Porte were “fully consistent” with adopting the injury di scovery
rule. 1d. Accordingly, Appellees read too nuch into that passage
when they construe it as supporting the proposition that di scovery
of fraud is the sane as discovery of the resulting injury.

As BCBST notes, the district court correctly stated the
applicable injury discovery rule. But, as noted, in applying that
rule, the court concluded: “BCBST was aware or shoul d have been
aware of the fraud as early as 1991". (Enphasi s added.) As
evi dence of “BCBST s awareness of the fraud”, the district court
relied on evidence of BCBST' s cooperation with the FBI in its
i nvestigation of insurance fraud by Appellees; BCBST s suspicion
that it mght have been a victim of fraud and its resulting
“prelimnary, yet inconplete, in-house investigation of false
clains”; and BCBST' s awareness of nedia reports concerning the

filing of fraudul ent clains by psychiatric hospitals, includingthe
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Texas Attorney General’s investigation of Appellees. The court
concluded: those “events gave BCBST reasonable ‘notice’ that it
may have been injured and may have [had] a cause of action agai nst
one or nore Defendants”. (Enphasis added.)

The district court quoted Landry v. Ar Line Pilots

Association International AFL-CIO 901 F.2d 404, 413 (5th Cr.),

cert. denied, 498 U S. 895 (1990), for the proposition that
“ignorance of one aspect of an alleged fraud, where nmany other
facts were known, is insufficient to delay the running of the
statute”. But, that portion of Landry addressed the accrual of
[ abor law, not civil RICO clains. Because the RICO statute
requires a showing of “injur[y]”, 18 US C 8§ 1964(c), and the
injury discovery rul e cal cul ates accrual fromthe di scovery of that
injury, accrual of a civil RCO claim is delayed until the
plaintiff is aware, or should have been aware, of the injury.

To the extent that the district court’s opinion could be
interpreted as holding that BCBST' s civil RICO clains accrued when
it becane aware in 1991 of Appellees’ allegedly fraudul ent conduct,
such a conclusion would be erroneous, because, again, under the
injury discovery rule, the clains did not accrue until BCBST knew,
or should have known, that it suffered an injury caused by that
all egedly fraudul ent conduct. But, we think it reasonably clear
that the district court’s references to BCBST' s awareness of “the

fraud” were intended to nean that the court had determ ned that
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BCBST' s awareness of Appellees’ alleged fraudul ent conduct was
sufficient to place BCBST on notice that it mght be a victim of
that conduct (injury), and triggered its duty to exercise
reasonable diligence to discover whether it had been injured
Inplicit in the court’s conclusion that BCBST failed to exercise
reasonabl e diligence to investigate whether it was a victi mof the
alleged fraud of which it was aware in 1991 is the further
conclusion that, had it done so, BCBST woul d have discovered its
all eged injuries.

BCBST concedes: in 1991, it |learned of a schene by Appel |l ees
to charge varying anounts for the sanme nedi cation and to di scharge
patients upon exhaustion of insurance coverage; it conducted an
investigation into whether there were variations in nedication
charges or correlation between insurance coverage and |ength of
hospitalization; but it found nothing. It contends, however, that
it was not aware of the type of fraudul ent conduct that caused its
injuries: Appellees’ use of nedical doctors to falsify diagnoses
and nedi cal records.

Regar di ng BCBST s i nvestigation, the sunmary j udgnent evi dence
i ncl udes excerpts from the deposition of the earlier-referenced
Lane Melton, whose duties during his BCBST enploynent included
i nvestigating questionable clainms and, when warranted, seeking
prosecution. He stated: in 1991, he becane aware of allegations

of fraud and abuse in Texas psychiatric hospitals; he becane
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concerned that BCBST m ght be paying fraudul ent clains; he spoke
w th enpl oyees who handl ed clains, to determ ne whet her BCBST was
paying fraudulent clainms, but did not talk to PIA doctors or
patients; he spoke with an enployee naned “Betty” in BCBST s
psychiatric health unit, who told him Appellees submtted | arge
clainms, but if there were clains that rai sed concerns of fraud or
over-billing, BCBST denied them and he did not see enough
indicators of fraud to then warrant a full-fl edged investigation.

BCBST al so subm tted ot her summary judgnent evidence that: in
part as a result of the allegations of fraudulent conduct by
psychiatric hospitals in 1991, it instituted new procedures,
i ncluding per diembilling, pre-certification requirenents, onsite
i nspections, and review of <clainms by subcontracted private
physicians, to attenpt to elimnate the potential for fraudul ent
clains; and it believed those procedures had elimnated, or
controlled, the possibility of fraudul ent insurance clains.

BCBST al so submtted the affidavit by one of its litigation
departnent attorneys, which stated: in 1991, BCBST did not know,
as a result of the publicity, other |awsuits, and governnenta
i nvestigations, that Appellees had enlisted nedical doctors to
falsify diagnoses and nedical records; in the fall of 1995, it
| earned, for the first tinme, that fraudulent clains containing
fal se di agnoses had been nmade against it by one of the Appellees;

this know edge was gai ned upon recei pt of questionnaires sent to

28



patients, at the direction of outside counsel in connection with
litigation with another hospital group, one of whose hospitals had
previ ously been owned by PIA, and, because of the sensitivity of
psychiatric treatnent, it was not BCBST s regul ar practice to send
such questionnaires to insureds.

Appel | ees contend that this evidence is insufficient to permt
a rational trier of fact to conclude that BCBST perforned a
reasonably diligent investigation to determ ne whether it had been
infjured by the allegedly fraudulent conduct. Rest ated, they
mai ntain there is no material fact issue on this point. According
to Appellees: BCBST' s discovery of its injuries through the use of
guestionnaires in 1995 denonstrates that use of a sim |l ar procedure
in 1991 would have revealed the sane information; and BCBST s
explanation for why it did not do so is inadequate.

There is no sunmary judgnent evidence that, prior to 1995,
BCBST knew that Appellees’ allegedly fraudul ent conduct included
fal sification of diagnoses and nedi cal records. Moreover, thereis
no summary judgnent evidence that insurers routinely contact
insureds to verify treatnment. BCBST submitted evidence that it did
so only at the direction of outside counsel in existinglitigation.
BCBST al so subm tted evidence that it sent “Explanation of Benefit”
forms to its insureds, to advise them of benefits paid on their
behal f, and never received a conplaint that the services were not

rendered or were inappropriate.
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In the light of the summary judgnent record, we cannot
conclude, as a matter of law, that BCBST's efforts to investigate
whether it was a victimof —had been injured by —the allegedly
fraudul ent conduct of which it was aware in 1991 (varying charges
for the sane nedi cation and di scharge deci si ons based on i nsurance
coverage), including not seeking information from its insureds
t hrough the use of questionnaires or otherw se, were not reasonably
diligent.

3.

Finally, seeking recovery for all paynents of the allegedly
fraudul ent insurance clains, including those prior to 13 February
1992, BCBST contends that the district court erred by failing to
hold there is a material fact issue regardi ng whether the statutes
of limtations for all of its clains were tolled by other
doctri nes.

a.

First, BCBST asserts that there is a material fact issue
regardi ng whether the limtations periods are tolled by fraudul ent
conceal nent. Under that doctrine, thelimtations periodis tolled
until the plaintiff discovers, or with reasonabl e diligence should
have di scovered, the conceal ed fraud. Klehr, 521 U S at 194,
Computer Assocs. Int’l, Inc. v. Altai, Inc., 918 S.W2d 453, 455

(Tex. 1996).
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BCBST nai ntains that the alleged fraud was “sel f-conceal i ng”
because the purpose of the schene created by Appellees was to
prevent insurers fromdiscovering that the psychiatric adm ssions
were fraudul ent. Alternatively, it <contends it submtted
uncontroverted evidence that Appellees commtted affirmative acts
to conceal their fraudulent activities.

I n opposition to summary judgnent, BCBST submtted affidavits
of former enpl oyees of Appell ees as evidence of affirmative acts of
conceal nent. That by a forner intake coordi nator for one hospital
owned by Appellees stated: he knew what type of coverage was
avai |l abl e t hrough BCBST and ot her insurers, and tail ored di agnoses
to fit insurance coverage; occasionally, the hospital admtted
patients under the nane of soneone el se who was i nsured; he coerced
all callers to cone to the hospital and all visitors to be
eval uated, and was prepared to admt all who were eval uated,
regardl ess of the result of the evaluation; and efforts were nade
to conceal such conduct from BCBST and ot her insurers.

The affidavit of another individual enployed by PIA from
Decenber 1990 to October 1991 stated: she perforned case
managenent utilization review to coordinate wth insurance
conpani es such as BCBST, to provide clinical information about
patients in order to obtain approval for paynent; PIA created and
used a “no-no” diagnosis list, for diagnoses that were not covered

by i nsurance, and instructed enpl oyees and physicians to use it in
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falsifying diagnoses to obtain insurance coverage; her duties
i ncl uded coerci ng physicians to change di agnoses when necessary to
obtain coverage; when responding to BCBST requests for nedical
records, she was instructed that, before providing the requested
information to BCBST, she was to redact records in order to renove
information reflecting patient inprovenent; and she attended
“charting parties” conducted by Appellees for the purpose of
fabricating charts, after patients were discharged.

Appel l ees maintain that the affidavits BCBST relies on to show
affirmative acts of conceal nent are not conpetent summary judgnent
evi dence, because they contain conclusory remarks, opinions of
ultimate fact and | egal concl usions, and statenents w thout record
support. Appellees so objected in district court, but the court
did not expressly rule on the objections. As noted, its opinion
states it considered the parties’ “subm ssions”. Even assuni ng
portions of the affidavits are objectionable on the grounds
asserted by Appellees, they contain statenents, based on personal
know edge, from which a reasonable jury could find acts of
conceal ment .

Appel l ees contend further that the fraudul ent conceal nent
doctrine does not apply because, in 1991, BCBST knew facts that
woul d have al erted any reasonabl e person to i nvesti gate and pursue
its clains. Appell ees nmaintain that the evidence conclusively

establ i shes that BCBST did not then act with reasonabl e diligence,
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because, when it exercised such diligence in 1995, by sending
guestionnaires to patients, it discovered its alleged injury. As
di scussed, there is a material fact issue whether BCBST exercised
reasonable diligence to determne whether it was a victim of
Appel | ees’ allegedly fraudulent conduct. Accordi ngly, summary
j udgnent concerning fraudul ent conceal nent was i nappropriate.
b.
W reject BCBST' s contention that there is a material fact
i ssue regarding tolling for its subrogated clains for treatnment of
mnors. There is no evidence of any contract giving rise to such
subrogation rights. The doctrine of equitabl e subrogati on does not
apply, because BCBST asserts direct clains against Appellees; its
rights are based not upon paynent of the debt of another, but upon
paynment of its own debt.
L1,
For the foregoing reasons, the summary judgnent is VACATED,
and this case is REMANDED for further proceedings.

VACATED and REMANDED
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